IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Case No. DA 22-0081

FILED

04/25/2022

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0081

James C Wangerin, CPA

Petitioner/Appellant,

V.

AMENDED APPELLANT'S BRIEF

State of Montana, Department of Revenue

Respondent/Appellee.



On appeal from the Montana Third Judicial District Court, County of Powell, Cause No. DV-21-53,

Honorable Ray J Dayton Presiding

Appearances:

David Burleigh, MT Dept of Rev Legal Services

James C Wangerin, CPA

PO Box 7701, Helena MT 59604-7701

413 Main St, Deer Lodge MT 59722

(406) 444-4033 Telephone number

(406) 846-1862

Telephone number

(406) 444-3696 FAX number

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Is Montana Department of Revenue (Department) interpretation of 15-30-2605, MCA a "substantive rule" as defined in 2-4-102 (14), MCA? Record page 380.

Is Department's interpretation of 15-30-2605, MCA (Department's interpretation) of significant interest to the public as defined in 2-4-102 (12), MCA? Record page 380.

Should Department provide an opportunity for public participation in Department's interpretation? Record page 380.

Is the Judge' finding in error that "There are no other reasonable interpretations"? Cause No. DV-21-53 Order page 7.

Is the Judge' finding in error that "the statute's intent is not at issue."? Cause No. DV-21-53 Order page 7.

Is the Judge's finding in error that the record does not indicate that the Department has relied on the three-year statute of limitations in its denial of appeals? Cause No. DV-21-53 Order page 6.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James C Wangerin, CPA's (Wangerin's) petition for judicial reviews was a challenge to the way in which a rule had been made. The Department created a rule that extended the statute of limitations. Extending the Statute of Limitations is of

significant interest to the public. Department failed to provide a reasonable opportunity of public to participate in creation of rule.

Article II. Section 8 of the 1972 Montana constitution affords citizens of this State the right to "reasonable opportunity for citizen participation" in affairs of government. The Montana Administrative Procedure Act fulfills this constitutional mandate in the context of a rulemaking proceeding by providing for notice and hearing. See § 2-3-104(3). MCA.

The procedures for rulemaking are set forth in Title 2,

chapter 4, part 3, MCA. Briefly, the rule making agency is required to publish notice in the Montana Administrative Register of its intention to promulgate a rule on a particular subject. § 2-4-302 (2). MCA. Interested parties must be afforded the opportunity to testify or present in writing their views on the proposed rule. § 2-4-302 (4), MCA. The agency must consider the evidence presented and adopt or reject the proposed rule stating the reasons for its action. § 2-4-305(1). MCA. An adopted rule must then be filed with the Secretary of State. § 2-4-306(1), MCA. See J. McCrory, Administrative Procedures in Montana: A View After Four Years With The Montana Administrative Procedure Act, 38 Mont. L. Rev. 1 (1977). Mont. Atty. Gen. Op. 38-69 (Feb. 28, 1980) (References to statutes were updated.) The case needs to be sent back to Department for consideration of additions to Record and to conduct a rulemaking proceeding pursuant to Montana

Administrative Procedure Act by providing for notice and hearing on Department's interpretation.

The Record indicates that there are many other reasonable interpretations of 15-30-2605, MCA.

The Record indicates that the intent of the statute is at issue.

In cases where Department's interpretation was an issue, the record indicates that the following systemic problems:

- Notice of Determination required to be issued in 30 days after informal review was requested was still NOT issued after 8 months. Record pages 395 to 401.
- 6 months after the original statute of limitations had expired, Chief
 Administrative Law Judge dismissed cases (decided against taxpayers)
 based on ex parte communication by Department with Chief Administrative
 Law Judge. Record pages 395 to 401.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Oral Argument was held on January 20, 2022. Court granted Wangerin's Motion for Additions. Court granted Wangerin's Second Motion for Additions on January 20, 2022. District Court Order page 1.

Department denied Wangerin's Petition to clarify § 15-30-2605, MCA on July 15, 2021. Record page 10 to 14.

Pages 1 to 263 of the Record refer to comments or events that occurred prior to July 15, 2021.

Pages 264 to 374 and pages 375 to 406 of the Record refer to comments or events that occurred after July 15, 2021.

The Department contends that the Department's interpretation of the statute of limitations from § 15-30-2605, MCA, is not an administrative rule. It is not an "interpretative rule" ... Record page 380.

Dave Burleigh (Burleigh) wrote, "Our interpretation of **15-30-2605** is not just mine, but Department-wide. All Department personnel are required to follow the law as we interpret it. " See Record page 355.

Burleigh wrote, "Though reasonable minds can differ on the interpretation of the legislature intent to make the statute of limitations similar to other Montana tax types or the IRS, the Department's interpretation is the one under which all our personnel operate until they are instructed otherwise. While we understand your position, we will continue to interpret these statutes of limitation as we have been doing until the legislature or other courts instruct us otherwise." Record page 3. A reasonable person could conclude that the Department's interpretation is a "substantive rule" as defined in 2-4-102 (14), MCA.

A reasonable person could conclude that Department's interpretation is of significant interest to the public as defined in 2-4-102 (12), MCA.

Brian Olsen (Olsen), audit unit manager for the five underlying contested cases, wrote, "The statute of limitations applies the timing of when adjustments can be made to returns not the resolution of the audit." Record page 393.

Department's denial of petition to clarify **15-30-2605**, **MCA** states, "the Department finds that § **15-30-2605**, **MCA**, is subject to only one reasonable interpretation: that the Department must complete its audit within the three-year deadline." Record page 12.

A reasonable person could conclude that when adjustments can be made to returns is NOT the same as completing the audit.

Olsen wrote, "It's not my interpretation to change." Record Page 392.

Olsen is the audit unit manager responsible for issuing a Notice of Determination in the underlying contested cases.

A reasonable person could conclude that reason for systemic problem of Olsen NOT issuing Notice of Determination for 8 months is because Department's interpretation was NOT his to change.

Burleigh wrote, "...the title of the document is important to us." Record page 182

The title "Notice of Determination" seems more important in interpreting

"determined by Department" than "notice of proposed assessment" or "audit
adjustment letter".

A reasonable person could interpret "determined by Department" in 15-30-2605, MCA to mean "Notice of Determination".

ARM 42.2.510 5 (b) states, "If the department disagrees with the taxpayer, it shall explain the reasons for the disagreement in a Notice of Determination, notify the taxpayer of the dispute resolution procedures, and provide a copy of the Notice of Referral to the Office of Dispute Resolution (Form APLS102F). ..."

On page 38 of Transcript of Proceedings, Dave Burleigh stated, "If the Department issues a determination and informal review is completed on April 14th, three years after the taxes were filed on April 15th, that taxpayer has not experienced prejudice."

A reasonable person could interpret Burleigh's statement on page 38 of Transcript of Proceedings to mean that Dave Burleigh interprets "determined by Department" in 15-30-2605, MCA to mean "Notice of Determination".

Dave Burleigh wrote, "proposed assessment is NOT a determination." Record page 367.

Dave Burleigh wrote, "An audit adjustment letter is a proposed assessment." Record page 383 response #18.

A reasonable person could conclude that if an audit adjustment letter is a proposed assessment and a proposed assessment is NOT a determination than an audit adjustment letter is NOT a determination.

Burleigh wrote, "To zero in on a generally understood meaning and context of a statutorily undefined term,

the Court "may consider dictionary definitions, prior case law, and the larger statutory scheme in which the term appears." *Giacomelli v. Scottsdale Ins. Co.*, 2009 MT 418, ¶ 18, 354 Mont. 15, 221 P.3d 666. Department's Response to Petitioner's Opening Brief page 7 and 8 Cause No.: DV-21-53

Google's English Dictionary is provided by Oxford Languages. Oxford's English dictionaries are widely regarded as the world's most authoritative sources on current English.

Google's English Dictionary defines determined as having made a firm decision and being resolved not to change it.

Using dictionary definition, a reasonable person could interpret determined by Department in 15-30-2605, MCA to mean the Final Agency Decision.

Jaret Coles, legislative staff attorney, wrote, "... to define what a determination is, it seems to me like the request is to make it the Department's final decision that is appealable to the Montana Tax Appeal Board the determination (I assume this is the case already, but not positive)." Record page 2 #4 and #4b.

Using Jaret Coles' writing, a reasonable person could interpret determined by Department in 15-30-2605, MCA to mean the Final Agency Decision.

Wangerin interprets **15-30-2605**, **MCA** as follows: "The date for stopping the statute of limitations for individual income tax for **MCA 15-30-2605** is the date of decision with respect to which all rights of appeal have been waived or exhausted." Record Page 2

Department admits that they don't follow the dictionary definition of determined meaning having made a firm decision and being resolved not to change it. Record page 380.

15-30-2642, MCA does NOT define the word determine.

15-30-2620(2) states, "If a term is not defined in this chapter, the term has the same meaning as it does when used in a comparable context in the Internal Revenue Code."

When the Legislature intended to use the words "mailing notice of proposed assessment" in the corporate statute of limitations **15-31-509**, **MCA**, the legislature used the words "mailing notice of proposed assessment." In the individual statute of limitations 15-30-2605, MCA the legislature used the words determined by the department.

Proposed and determined have quite different meanings in plain language.

A reasonable person could conclude that legislature did NOT mean proposed when it stated determined in plain and simple language.

On page 6 of Cause NO. DV-21-53, the Judge highlights that § 15-30-2642, MCA uses the word determines. § 15-30-2642 also uses the words "of the additional tax proposed to be assessed." The definition of propose is "put forward (an idea or plan) for consideration or discussion by others." The definition of determined is "having made a firm decision and being resolved not to change it." See Oxford Languages Dictionary. A reasonable person could conclude that if the legislative intent was to state proposed assessment, the Legislature would not have used the word determined.

The stated intent of 2017 64th Montana Legislature House Bill No. 379 was to make § 15-30-2605, MCA uniform with other tax types. Record page 2.

Burleigh wrote, "... reasonable minds can differ on the interpretation of the legislature intent to make the statute of limitations similar to other Montana tax types or the IRS..." Record page 3.

Department Attorney Tony Zammit stated, "The

plain language of the IRC provides the same three-year limit to assess a tax as Montana's statute." Record page 404.

15-30-2605 was revised by 2017 64th Montana Legislature House Bill No. 379 (HB 379) The stated intent of HB 379 was "... to be uniform with other tax types." (See Record page 382.)

The sponsor of 2017 64th Montana Legislature House Bill No. 379 stated that the legislative intent was to make § **15-30-2605**, **MCA** uniform with the statute of limitations in the Internal Revenue Code. Record page 382.

15-30-2620, MCA Department rules -- conformance with Internal Revenue Code.

(2) If a term is not defined in this chapter, the term has the same meaning as it does when used in a comparable context in the Internal Revenue Code. (See page 402 of the Record 12)

Internal Revenue Manual 4.10.2.2.2 states, "To ensure adherence with Rev.

Proc. 57-6, 1957-1 C.B. 729 examination cycle generally allows the audit and all processing (e.g., appeal, assessment, etc.) to be completed within the original

statute of limitations." Record page 402.

Rev. Proc. 98-54, IRC 6212(a), IRC 6213 (a), and IRC 6503(a) provide that IRS must issue a notice of deficiency within the original statute of limitations. The notice of deficiency allows the taxpayer to appeal to tax court.

Taxpayer Bill of Rights (9) the taxpayer, after the exhaustion of all appropriate administrative remedies, has the right to have the Montana tax appeal board or a

court, or both, review any final decision of the department assessing an additional tax. § 15-1-222, MCA.

STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

§ 2-4-704, MCA provides the standard of review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The stated intent of 2017 64th Montana Legislature House Bill No. 379 was to make § 15-30-2605, MCA uniform with other tax types.

Burleigh wrote, "Though reasonable minds can differ on the interpretation of the legislature intent to make the statute of limitations similar to other Montana tax types or the IRS, the Department's interpretation is the one under which all our personnel operate until they are instructed otherwise. While we understand your position, we will continue to interpret these statutes of limitation as we have been doing until the legislature or other courts instruct us otherwise." Record page 3. The Department's interpretation was a rule to implement § 15-30-2605, MCA by making it uniform with other Montana tax types.

The Department creating the rule without going through rulemaking procedures set forth in Title 2, Chapter 4, Part 3, MCA violated Article II Section 8 of the 1972 Montana Constitution, § 2-3-104 (2), MCA, § 2-4-302(2), MCA, § 2-4-302(4), MCA, 2-4-305(1), MCA, and § 2-4-306 (2), MCA.

James C Wangerin was harmed by being deprived of right to participate in rulemaking regarding 15-30-2605, MCA.

The sponsor of 2017 64th Montana Legislature House Bill No. 379 stated that the legislative intent was to make § 15-30-2605, MCA uniform with the statute of limitations in the Internal Revenue Code. Record page 382.

Rev. Proc. 98-54, IRC 6212(a), IRC 6213 (a), and IRC 6503(a) provide that IRS must issue a notice of deficiency within the original statute of limitations. The notice of deficiency allows the taxpayer to appeal to tax court.

The Montana tax type only requires that a Notice of Proposed Assessment be mailed within the original statute of limitations.

The statute of limitations is a restraint on the time within which the Department must assess tax.

By Department creating a rule uniform with Montana tax type instead on the Internal Revenue Code, the Department increased the length of time to assess tax. Increasing the length of time to assess tax is of significant interest to the public. The Department failed to comply with Mont. Code Ann. § 2-3-111(1). The required policies and procedures "must include a method of affording interested persons reasonable opportunity to submit data, views, or arguments, orally or in written form, prior to making a final decision that is of significant interest to the public."

ARGUMENT

Wangerin disagrees with Cause NO. DV-21-53 Order Affirming the Department of Revenue's Decision (see Discussion pages 5 to 7) for the following reasons:

- The Department's interpretation was a rule to implement § 15-30-2605, MCA by making it uniform with other Montana tax types.
- The Department creating the rule without going through rulemaking procedures set forth in Title 2, Chapter 4, Part 3, MCA violated Article II Section 8 of the 1972 Montana Constitution, § 2-3-104 (2), MCA, § 2-4-302(2), MCA, § 2-4-302(4), MCA, 2-4-305(1), MCA, and § 2-4-306 (2), MCA.
- Petition for Judicial Review on page 4 #25 states, "Montana Supreme Court Decision. State ex rel. Anderson v. State Bd. of Equalization (1957), 133 Mont. 8, 319 P.2d 221, declares that a statute of limitations should be construed in favor of a taxpayer. The general rule of law holds that where a tax statute may be susceptible of two constructions, and legislative intent is in doubt, any such doubt should be resolved in favor of the taxpayer and against the taxing authority."
- Page 7 of the order states that there are no other reasonable interpretations.

 Wangerin has listed numerous other reasonable interpretations in the Statement of the Facts listed above.

In the only docketed case, Appeal to Office of Dispute Resolution was filed on 2/28/2021. **15-1-211**, MCA (4) (c) provides "the right to obtain a final department

decision within 180 days of the date that the dispute was referred to the dispute resolution office". ARM 42.2.621 (5) provides, "If no decision is rendered by the end of the 180-day period specified in 15-1-211, MCA, the department shall notify the parties that they are entitled to carry their appeal forward by filing a complaint with the appropriate reviewing authority within 30 days after service of the notice." Decision in the only docketed case was NOT rendered within the 180-day period specified in 15-1-211, MCA and NO notice entitling taxpayer to carry forward their appeal was issued.

The Director of Department wrote, "the auditor in your client's Office of Dispute Resolution matter, who issued the audit adjustment letter prior to the expiration of the 30 days, was in error." Record page 381. Dave Burleigh wrote, "The Department ... requested documentation from Taxpayers on ... 6/16/2021." Record page 384. The original statute of limitations had expired around 2 months prior to 6/16/2021.

Page 395 of the record is one of the requests for informal review made on February 8, 2021. **ARM 42.2.510 (5)** provides, "... The department shall mail written notice to the taxpayer advising the taxpayer of the department's determination within 30 days after receipt of the objection. ... it shall explain the reasons for the disagreement in a Notice of Determination." 8 months after the request for informal review, and over 5 months after the original statute of limitations had

expired, a Notice of Determination had not been issued for three contested cases where statute of limitations was an issue. Request for Formal Review was filed for 3 of the remaining cases in October of 2021. Record Page 395. Based on ex parte communication with Department of Revenue, Chief Administrative Law Judge dismissed the 3 filed cases. Record page 397. The Office of Dispute Resolution sent a letter stating taxpayer may refile if you complete an informal review with the time allowed by law ... The referral you filed on October 4, 2021 will be considered your request for informal review ... We have forwarded your document(s) to Department of Business and Income Taxes Division. ..." Record page 396.

CONCLUSION

Ben Franklin was asked the question: do we have a monarchy or a republic? His response was that we have a republic if we can keep it.

Department's interpretation is a rule. ARM 1.3.307 states, "(2) See 2-4-102, MCA, for the definition of "rule." Because of the difficulty in determining whether an agency action meets the definition of rule, construe the exceptions narrowly and if in doubt, consult legal counsel. Interpretive rules are statements issued by an agency to advise the public of the agency's construction of the statutes and rules which it administers. Interpretive rules may be made under the express or implied authority of a statute but are advisory only and do not have the force of law."

The Department's interpretation should have went through the procedures for rulemaking set forth in **Title 2**, **Chapter 4**, **part 3**, **MCA**.

The record has had significant additions since the Department denied Wangerin's petition. The petition should be sent back to the Department for consideration of the additional record and creation of a rule interpreting § 15-30-2605, MCA using procedures for rulemaking set forth in Title 2, Chapter 4, part 3, MCA.