05/25/2022

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0081

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0081

JAMES C. WANGERIN, CPA,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent and Appellee.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/APPELLEE, MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF REVEUE

On Appeal From the Montana Third Judicial District Court, Powell County, The Honorable Ray J. Dayton Presiding

APPEARANCES:

DAVE BURLEIGH
Senior Tax Counsel
MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF
REVENUE
Legal Services Office
125 N Roberts St
PO Box 7701
Helena, MT 59604

Telephone: (406) 444-4033 E-mail: David.Burleigh@mt.gov James C. Wangerin 413 Main St.

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

The Legislature's acquiescence to the Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, creates a presumption that the Department correctly interprets the statute. "It is presumed that the Legislature is acquainted with the law; that it has knowledge of the state of it upon the subjects on which it legislates; that it is informed of previous legislation and the construction it has received." Baitis, ¶ 24 (internal citation omitted)(holding that where Legislature acquiesced to the Department's interpretation of statute for over forty years, the Court presumes the Department's interpretation is proper). Here, the Legislature has not changed the controlling language of the statute since 1979 (noting that the time period was shortened from five years to three years in 2015) and has never indicated the Department is misconstruing that language. Indeed, on several occasions, Wangerin has requested legislation to require the Department to mimic federal audit procedures and no legislator has proposed such a bill. See Bates Nos. 000051, 54, 57. Legislative action since promulgating the language shows that the Department's interpretation is correct. As the district court held, "[t]here are no other reasonable interpretations and the statute's intent is not at issue." D.C. Doc. 29 at 7; see also § II.A, infra.

Even if this Court finds that the statutory intent is unclear, the Department's lengthy administration of the statute guides the Court's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA. "It is a well-accepted rule of statutory construction that the long and continued contemporaneous and practical interpretation of a statute by the executive officers charged with its administration and enforcement constitutes an invaluable aid in determining the meaning of a doubtful statute." *Mont. Power Co. v. Mont. PSC*, 2001 MT 102, ¶ 24, 305 Mont. 260, 26 P.3d 91 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

[T]he foregoing rule of deference applies, generally speaking, where the particular meaning of a statute has been placed in doubt, and where a particular meaning has been ascribed to a statute by an agency through a long and continued course of consistent interpretation, resulting in an identifiable reliance.

Id. at ¶ 25. Such an administrative interpretation is entitled to respectful consideration. Id. The Department's interpretation should stand unless this Court finds "compelling indications" that it is wrong. Id. Here, the Department's traditional interpretation of the language has remained consistent and unchallenged for over 40 years. Indeed, the record reveals that Department personnel operate according to the Department's interpretation of the statute and readily describe the Department's interpretation to taxpayers when prompted. See Audit Adjustment Letter, Bates No. 000026 (stating, "[t]he IRS procedure regarding the timing of an audit does not affect the Montana Department of Revenue's processes.") The Department's longstanding

adherence to the plain statutory language enables taxpayers to rely on the Department's procedures and is entitled to deference in construing the legislative intent of § 15-30-2605, MCA. This Court should reaffirm the Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA.

B. Wangerin's novel interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, contradicts Montana law.

Wangerin forwards several invalid interpretations of the statute that do not comport with the rules of statutory construction, thus fail to accurately describe legislative intent. *Opening Brief* at 7, 13. Contrary to § 1-2-106, MCA, Wangerin fails to determine legislative intent from the plain statutory language. For example, § 15-30-2605, MCA, references no federal audit procedures, much less a requirement that the Department adopt them. Section 15-30-2605, MCA. Yet, Wangerin would have the statute silently incorporate federal operating procedures and manuals. *Opening Brief* at 10. Wangerin's interpretation ignores the plain statutory language requiring the Department only to determine the correct amount of taxes within three years.

In violation of § 1-2-101, MCA, Wangerin's interpretation would require this Court to insert terms and procedural requirements that the Legislature omitted from the statute. Throughout the Montana Code Annotated, where the Legislature intends to adopt federal law, it expresses that desire with plain statutory language. *See* D.C.

Doc. 10 at 10-11. Wangerin's request ignores the plain statutory language by inserting procedural requirements that the Legislature omitted.

Wangerin's conclusion that the Department must adopt federal operating procedures also violates § 1-3-233, MCA, because it is unreasonable. The Department administers Montana's tax laws and regulations, and Montana taxpayers can rely on Montana's Taxpayer Bill of Rights found at § 15-1-222, MCA. Wangerin's interpretation would have one believe that the Legislature intended the Department, in this one instance and without explicitly saying so, to follow unreferenced federal procedures to protect taxpayers' rights. Moreover, federal tax law, Treasury Regulations, and federal tax policies and procedures are not administered by the Department. The IRS's policies and procedures do not refer to Montana's tax laws. It is unreasonable to interpret § 15,30,2605, MCA, to depend on obscure federal procedures.

Wangerin's failure to harmonize the Montana Code Annotated also renders many Montana statutes ineffective, void, or mere surplusage. For example, Wangerin's interpretation fails to harmonize § 15-30-2605, MCA, with the rest of the Code because it ignores the timing procedures of MAPA and §§ 15-1-211, 15-30-2605, and -2642, MCA, rendering them ineffective, void, and mere surplusage.

Additionally, Wangerin's requested definition of "determine" unreasonably seeks to restrict the Department's authority to determine the correct amount of taxes

in ways the Legislature did not intend. Section 15-30-2605, MCA, contains generally understood terms and no language with peculiar legal meaning. *Id.* The three-year deadline plainly relates to the determination, which the Department satisfies by sending a taxpayer a notice of determination following the informal review. Section 15-30-2642, MCA. However, Wangerin's interpretation would require the Department to complete a full contested case hearing and issue a final agency decision, pursuant to MAPA, prior to the three-year deadline. *Opening Brief* at 6-11. The statute simply does not say that. Adopting Wangerin's view would require this Court to insert terms and requirements the Legislature omitted from the statute, contrary to § 1-2-101, MCA. Wangerin's construction inappropriately inserts procedural requirements implicating a legal term of art, "final agency decision," that the Legislature omitted.

Wangerin further erroneously argues that, because "determine" is not defined in the Montana Code Annotated, the Department must adopt and adhere to the requirements of a federal "notice of deficiency." *Opening Brief* at 8-11, citing § 15-30-2620, MCA. But the Internal Revenue Code does not define "determine." Rather, Wangerin unreasonably equates the generic term "determine," to the federal term of art "notice of deficiency." *Opening Brief* at 8-16. There is simply no statutory language indicating that the Legislature intended to adopt federal agencies' internal guidance.

Finally, Wangerin's reliance on Anderson is misplaced. Opening Brief at 13. Construing a statute of limitations in favor of the taxpayer is required when the legislative intent of the statute is in doubt. State ex rel. Anderson v. State Bd. of Equalization (1957), 133 Mont. 8, 13, 319 P.2d 221, 224. This Court in Anderson analyzed the operative language of § 15-30-2605, MCA's pre-1972 ancestor, Revised Code of Montana (RCM) 1947, § 84-4920, which contained very similar language authorizing the Department to audit IIT returns: "[i]f, in the opinion of the Board [of Equalization—predecessor to the Department of Revenue] any return of a taxpayer is in any essential respect incorrect, it may revise such return ... the amount of tax due under any return shall be determined by the Board within three years after the return was made." Id. at 12 (citing RCM, § 84-4920). Here, because the legislative intent is not in doubt, Wangerin is not entitled to special favor. D.C. Doc. 29 at p. 7; § I.A, supra. Anderson does not support Wangerin's position. This Court should reaffirm the Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA.

Wangerin's argument presents no compelling indication that the Department has incorrectly interpreted the statutory language for four decades. The district court correctly determined that Wangerin's arguments do not cast doubt on the meaning of the plain language of the statute. *Order*, D.C. Doc 29 at 7. This Court should defer to the Department's longstanding interpretation of the plain statutory language and affirm the district court's *Order*.

II. THE DEPARTMENT'S DENIAL OF WANGERIN'S RULE REQUEST WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND WAS NOT ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS.

A. The Department correctly denied Wangerin's Rule Request and interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, because it contradicts the plain language of the statute, legislative intent, and Montana law.

The Department denied Wangerin's Rule Request because it was based on his erroneous interpretation of the statute. *See* § I.B., *supra*. Moreover, Wangerin's proffered definition of "determine" contradicts the Department's role in collecting taxes. The plain statutory language requires the Department to determine the correct amount of taxes. Section 15-30-2605, MCA. The Department does not approach this task with an attitude of "being resolved not to change its mind," as Wangerin asserts the word "determine" means. D.C. Doc. 14 at "Pages 380-81" [sic]. To the contrary, the Department understands that determining the correct amount of taxes sometimes *requires* it to change its mind. *Id*.

Wangerin's requested rule is superfluous. No rule is necessary to explain that the Department will follow the plain language of the statute. *Baitis*, ¶¶ 21-22; *see also* § I, *supra*. Moreover, the Department cannot "unnecessarily repeat statutory language" in its rulemaking. Section 2-4-305(2), MCA. Where a statute's plain language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for an interpretive administrative rule. *Baitis*, ¶ 26. In *Baitis*, the taxpayers argued that the Department should have adopted a rule to formalize its policy disallowing deductions for federal

self-employment taxes. *Id.* The Department's longstanding policy was premised on its interpretation of the Montana statutes. *Id.* This Court agreed with the Department's interpretation of the plain language of the statute and refused to require the Department to adopt a rule explaining its interpretation, holding that "[t]he Department is not required to promulgate a rule explaining the denial of a tax deduction, when that deduction is not explicitly provided for within the language of the code." *Id.* Here the Department correctly interprets the plain statutory language, so Wangerin's requested rule is not just unnecessary but prohibited. *See* § 2-4-305(2), MCA.

Wangerin's requested rule is further prohibited because it contradicts the plain language of § 15-30-2605, MCA. Administrative regulations cannot change a statute. *Mont. Indep. Living Project v. State, DOT,* 2019 MT 298, ¶ 31, 398 Mont. 204, 454 P.3d 1216. Wangerin's requested rule would inappropriately change the meaning of the statute by restricting the Department's authority to determine the correct amount of taxes within three years in ways the Legislature did not intend. *See* § I.B., *supra*. On the other hand, the Department's longstanding interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, comports with legislative intent and the rules of statutory construction. D.C. Doc. 29 at 7, *see also* § I.A., *supra*. Thus, the Department's denial of Wangerin's Rule Request was not arbitrary or capricious, but rather was based on substantial evidence and was consistent with the law. This Court should affirm the

district court's decision affirming the Department's denial of Wangerin's Rule Request.

- B. The Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, does not violate Wangerin's or Taxpayers' rights.
 - 1. The Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, is not a rule subject to the MAPA rulemaking process.

As a threshold matter, Wangerin falsely premises his assertion that he was harmed by the Department's traditional interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, on the mistaken belief that the Department's interpretation is a "rule" subject to the rulemaking requirements in MAPA. (Opening Brief at 1, 4-5, 11-13). However, the term "rule" specifically excludes "statements concerning only the internal management of an agency or state government and not affecting private rights or procedures available to the public." Sections 2-3-102(3)(a), 2-4-102(11)(b)(i), MCA. The Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, concerns only the Department's management of the statute. The Montana Code Annotated provides the taxpayers' procedural rights elsewhere, and the Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, does not affect them. See §§ 2-4-601 et seg., 15-1-211, 15-30-2605, -2642, MCA; ARM 42.2.510, .613 et seg.; see also D.C. Doc. 10 at 10. Thus, the Department's interpretation is not a "rule" subject to MAPA rulemaking procedures.

//

2. Taxpayers' procedural rights regarding the 2017 Audits are not within the purview of this appeal.

Wangerin's *Opening Brief* exceeds the scope of this review in arguing certain aspects of the 2017 Audits, which are not at issue in this appeal. Opening Brief at 3, 5, 13-14. "[T]his Court may review the judgment, as well as all previous orders and rulings excepted or objected to which led to and resulted in the judgment." M.R.App.P. 6(1). However, the Rule Request did not involve any particular aspects of the 2017 Audits. Instead, the Taxpayers all knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived their rights to hearing and appeal by settling their cases. Issues and facts pertinent to specific 2017 Audits were not within the scope of the district court's review of the denial and were not properly raised or preserved during the Rule Request or district court review. Moreover, the particulars of the 2017 Audits are not relevant to the instant issues of statutory construction and Rule Request denial. This Court should disregard Wangerin's arguments regarding the "docketed case" and any communications specific to the 2017 Audits made after March 1, 2021, the date Wangerin requested to set settlement conferences after the statutory deadline in order to avoid the statutorily-provided appeal process through ODR. Opening Brief at 3, 5, 13-14; see also D.C. Doc. 14 at "Page 396-97" [sic].

3. Wangerin's right to participate remains unaffected.

Wangerin lacks standing to assert an affront to his right to participate. "[S]tanding depends on whether the constitutional or statutory provision ... can be

understood as granting persons in the plaintiff's position a right to judicial relief." *Krakauer v. State*, 2016 MT 230, ¶ 16, 384 Mont. 527, 381 P.3d 524 (internal citations omitted). Here, Wangerin's right to participate does not extend to the Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA. Delegate Dahood clearly delineated the scope of the right to participate during the 1972 Constitutional Convention:

[w]hat is intended by Section 8 is that any *rules and regulations* that shall be made and formulated and announced by any governmental agency... shall not be made until some notice is given so that the citizen will have a reasonable opportunity to participate with respect to his opinion, either for or against that particular administrative action.

Montana Constitutional Convention (MCC), Vol. V at 1655 (emphasis added). Delegate Dahood went on, "the Legislature ... will have the opportunity and ... latitude to set forth the guidelines that will best implement that particular policy. ..." *Id.* at 1656. Indeed, the Legislature promulgated MAPA specifically "to provide for public participation in [governmental] action." Section 2-4-101(2)(a), MCA. However, here the Department made, formulated, or announced no rule or regulation. *See* § II.B.1, *supra*; MCC, Vol. V at 1655. Rather, § 15-30-2605, MCA, is a purely legislative edict with plain directives for the Department to follow. *See* § I, *supra*. The Department's interpretation is not a rule, regulation, or policy that merits public participation or requires adherence to MAPA. *See* ARM 42.2.311. Neither the Montana Constitution nor Montana Code Annotated can provide

Wangerin relief because the Department's interpretation of § 15-30-2605, MCA, simply follows the statutory language. ARM 42.2.312(1); *see also* § II.B.1, *supra;* MCC, Vol. V at 1655. This Court should disregard Wangerin's claim that the Department violated his right to participate because he lacks standing to assert it.

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